UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
for the Fifth Crcuit

No. 95-40006
Summary Cal endar

BETTY J. G LLESPIE, individually and as next friend of
her m nor son Leelan G|l espie, and LEELAN G LLESPI E

Pl aintiffs-Appellants,
VERSUS
Rl CHARD WRI GHT and SANTA FE | NDEPENDENT
SCHOOL DI STRI CT,

Def endant s- Appel | ees.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
for the Southern District of Texas
(94 CV 342)

Septenber 5, 1995

Bef ore GARWOOD, HI G3 NBOTHAM and DAVI S, Circuit Judges.
PER CURI AM !

The plaintiffs, Betty Gllespie and Leelan G|l espie,
challenge the district court's dismssal of their § 1983 and
pendent state law clains against the defendants, the Santa Fe
| ndependent School District and Richard Wight. Finding no error,

we affirmthe district court's dism ssal of the plaintiffs' clains.

Local Rule 47.5 provides: "The publication of opinions
t hat have no precedential value and nerely decide particular
cases on the basis of well-settled principles of |aw inposes
needl ess expense on the public and burdens on the |egal
profession.” Pursuant to that Rule, the Court has determ ned
that this opinion should not be published.



| .

Leelan G llespie suffered severe injuries to his hand and
fingers while operating a notorized table saw during a vocati onal
shop class at Santa Fe (Texas) Junior H gh School. Leel an's
nmot her, Betty G|l espie subsequently filed suit in state court
agai nst Leelan's vocational shop instructor, Richard Wight, and
Wight's enployer, the Santa Fe | ndependent School District. She
also joined Leelan Gllespie as a plaintiff. The Gl espies
all eged that Leelan's injuries resulted when Wi ght renoved a bl ade
guard fromthe table saw that Leelan was using. According to the
G llespies' original conplaint, Leelan'sinjuries "were proximtely
caused by the intentional wongful act of the Defendants, and each
of them in renoving and acqui esci ng and approving the renoval of
the bl ade guard in question.™

The defendants renoved the case to federal district court
after the Gllespies anended their original petition to allege
violations of 42 U.S.C. § 1983. The Gllespies then filed a second
anended petition in which they all eged that the school district had
a policy or customof allow ng students to use table saws w t hout
bl ade guards, and that this policy or custom violated Leelan's
constitutional rights. They also argued that the "special
rel ati onshi p* between the school district and Leel an gave rise to
a constitutional duty to protect Leelan.

The def endants subsequently filed notions to di sm ss pursuant
to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6). The district court

granted the defendants' notions and dismssed the Gllespies' 8§



1983 clains on the grounds that they failed to all ege a cogni zabl e
constitutional violation. The court also dismssedthe Gllespie's
state lawclai ns on the grounds that they were barred under section
21.912 of the Texas Education Code.? The Gllespies then filed a
tinmely notice of appeal.
1.
A
W will first address the G llespies’ argunent that the
district court erred in dismssing their § 1983 clains. A Rule
12(b)(6) dismssal is ordinarily appropriate when "it appears
beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts in
support of his claimwhich would entitle himto relief." MCornack

V. National Collegiate Athletic Ass'n, 845 F.2d 1338, 1343 (5th

Cir. 1988). Although we take all the allegations of the conpl aint
as true when reviewwng a Rule 12(b)(6) dismssal, we wll not
assune facts not alleged. |d.

Turning to the factual allegations in the GIIespies'
conplaint, we agree with the district court that they failed to
allege a cognizable constitutional violation. The G 1 espies'
conplaint first alleges that the defendants violated Leelan's

Fourteenth Amendnent rights "to be free of bodily injury inflicted

2 On appeal, the plaintiffs suggest that the district
court erroneously grounded its dism ssal of their 8§ 1983 cl ai ns
on § 21.912 of the Texas Education Code. However, a careful
readi ng of the district court's opinion reveals that the district
court based its dism ssal of the § 1983 clains squarely on the
| ack of a cogni zable constitutional violation, not on the Texas
Educati on Code. W need not, therefore, address the plaintiffs
argunment that 8§ 1983 preenpts the Texas Educati on Code.
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upon [him by a governnent official/school teacher."” They
specifically allege that Leelan's injuries "were proxi mately caused
by the intentional, deliberately indifferent, and/ or malicious acts
of the Defendants."” They also allege that the school district
failed to adequately train and supervise its teachers and that
Leelan's injuries were a direct result of the defendants

deli berate indifference to his safety and wel | -bei ng.

Although the GIllespies’ conplaint alleges that Wight
intended to renove the blade guard, they fail to allege any facts
show ng that Wight intended his actions to injure Leelan. At
nmost, the plaintiffs' allegations showthat Wight was carel ess or
negligent in renoving the blade guard. However, "the Due Process
Clause is sinply not inplicated by a negligent act of an official
causing unintended loss of or injury to life, Iliberty, or

property." Daniels v. Wllians, 474 U S. 327, 328 (1986). The

plaintiffs cannot, therefore, base their 8§ 1983 clainms on Wight's
al | eged negligence in renoving the bl ade guard.
The G llespies' conplaint alternatively alleges that the

def endants owed Leelan an affirmative duty not to be deliberately

indifferent to his due process rights. |In DeShaney v. Wnnebago

County Dept. of Social Servs., 489 U S. 189, 196 (1989), the

Suprene Court held that an affirmative duty m ght arise when there
is a "special relationship" between the state and the plaintiff.
The G llespies contend that there was a special relationship
between Leelan and the defendants because of Texas' conpul sory

school attendance | aws, and that the defendants breached that duty



by being deliberately indifferent to Leelan's due process rights.

This court's recent en banc decision in Walton v. Al exander,

44 F.3d 1297, 1299 (5th Gr. 1995) (en banc) disposes of the
G |l espies' DeShaney argunent. In Walton, we held that there was
no speci al rel ationship between the M ssi ssippi School for the Deaf
and a student who lived on the school's canpus. W concl uded that
a "special relationship” sufficient to invoke DeShaney's
affirmative duty exists only where "a person is involuntarily
confined or otherwi se restrained against his wll pursuant to a
governnental order or by the affirmative exercise of state power."
Id. Likethe plaintiff in Wlton, Leelan G|l espie was not subject
to involuntary confinenent or restraint by the defendants. The

mere fact that state conpul sory education rules required himto

attend public school is not sufficient to create a special
relationship. Id. at 1303 n. 4. Accordingly, the G I espies'
allegations fail to establish the presence of a special

relationship sufficient to trigger DeShaney's affirmative duty.
In sum the Gllespies' allegations fail to allege any facts

which establish a cognizable constitutional violation. The

district <court did not, therefore, err in dismssing the

Gllespies' § 1983 clains.?

3 Because we conclude that the Gllespies failed to
al | ege a cogni zabl e constitutional violation, we need not address
their allegations that the school district is liable under § 1983
for failing to properly train and supervise Walton, and that the
district had a policy and customof allowing instructors to
renove bl ade guards fromthe table saws in the district's
vocati onal shop cl asses.



The G |l espies next challenge the district court's dism ssal
of their state | aw negligence clai ns agai nst Wight.* The district
court concluded that § 21.912 of the Texas Educati on Code barred
the Gllespies’ negligence clains against Wight. Section
21.912(b) states:

No professional enployee of any school district within
this state shall be personally liable for any act
incident to or within the scope of the duties of his
position of enploynent, and which act involves the
exercise of judgnent or discretion on the part of the
enpl oyee except in circunstances where professional
enpl oyees use excessive force in the discipline of
students or negligence resulting in bodily injury to
st udent s.

Tex. Educ. Code Ann. 8§ 21.912 (West 1987)(enphasis added).
Interpreting the final clause of this statute, the Suprene Court of
Texas held that a "professional school enployee is not personally
liable for acts done within the scope of enploynent and which
involve the exercise or judgnent or discretion, except when
disciplining a student the enployee uses excessive force or
negligence which results in bodily injury to the student." Hopkins
V. Spring Indep. Sch. Dist., 736 S.W2d 617, 618 (Tex. 1987).

The G llespies argue that 8 21.912 does not provide Wi ght

4 The G llespies do not argue in their appellate brief
that the district court erred in dismssing their state | aw
negl i gence clains against the school district. 1In a one-sentence

conclusion in their brief, they request this court to reverse the
district court's dismssal of their federal and state clains

agai nst the "Appellees.” As for the school district, the

G llespies' brief focusses solely on their argunent that they

all eged a valid constitutional deprivation under § 1983. They do
not address the school district's liability under state tort |aw
We therefore do not address the school district's liability under
state tort |law. See Yohey v. Collins, 985 F.2d 222, 225 (5th Cr.
1993) (i ssues not briefed on appeal are deened abandoned).
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wWth imunity fromliability because Wight's actions in renoving
the bl ade guard fromthe table saw were not actions involving the
exerci se of judgnent or discretion because "[t]he rules of safety
are not discretionary."” Under Texas |aw, however, the allegation
that a teacher's actions violated safety regulations is
insufficient to defeat a claimof imunity under § 21.912. See

Pierson v. Houston Indep. Sch. Dist., 698 S . W2d 377, 380-81

(Tex. App.-- Houston [14th Dist.] 1985, wit ref'd n.r.e.).

The G llespies also argue that 8 21.912 is inapplicable
because Wight's actions involved negligence in the discipline of
a student. In support of their argunent, they cite the foll ow ng
definition of "discipline": "[i]nstruction, conprehending the
comuni cation of know edge and training to observe an action in

accordance with the rules and orders.” Black's Law Dictionary 464

(6th ed. 1990). The Suprene Court of Texas, however, rejected such
a broad interpretation of the termas used in § 21.912, and held
that ""[d]iscipline’ in the school context ordinarily describes
sone formof punishnent." Hopkins, 736 S.W2d at 619. Because the
Gllespies' allegations fail to show that the renoval of the bl ade
guard was an act of punishnent, their argunent that Wight's
actions were a formof disciplineis without nerit. Therefore, the
district court did not err in dismssing the Gllespies' state | aw
negl i gence cl ai ns agai nst Wi ght.

AFFI RVED.



